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GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS 

The Federation New Union Wildlife Federation 

The Department New Union Department of Environmental Protection 

Bowman  Jim Bob Bowman 

The Muddy  Muddy River 

EPA   U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

Corps   U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 

CWA or the Act Clean Water Act 

 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 This case involves an appeal from a judgment of the United States District Court for the 

District of New Union. R. at 1. The district court had proper subject matter jurisdiction over the 

case because the issues arise under the CWA, 33 U.S.C.A. §§ 1251 et seq. (Westlaw 2012), a law 

of the United States, and federal district courts have original jurisdiction over any civil action 

arising under the laws of the United States. 28 U.S.C.A. § 1331 (Westlaw 2012). The United 

States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has proper jurisdiction to hear appeals from any 

final decision of the United States District Court of the District of New Union. 28 U.S.C.A. § 

1291 (Westlaw 2012).  

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

I. Whether the Federation has standing to bring suit against Bowman on behalf of three of 

its members who are longtime recreational users of the Muddy River, who have aesthetic 

and conservational interests in the river and surrounding ecosystem. 

II. Whether Bowman’s alteration of the elevation of his wetlands and discharge of pollutants 

by bulldozing vegetation and redepositing previously excavated soil into trenches 

constitute violations of the Clean Water Act. 

III. Whether there is a continuing violation as required by section 505(a) of the Clean Water 

Act in light of the probability of future storm events compelling discharges of pollutants 

into the Muddy River via Bowman’s point source ditch, and for policy reasons based on 

the remediable nature of Bowman’s excavation. 

IV. Whether the Department-Bowman settlement constitutes a diligent prosecution of 

Bowman’s Clean Water Act violations given that it does not require modification of the 

behaviors giving rise to those violations or include mechanisms facilitating Bowman’s 

compliance.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On July 1, 2011, appellant New Union Wildlife Federation sent a notice of its intent to 

sue appellee Jim Bob Bowman to Bowman and to the New Union Department of Environmental 

Protection. R. at 4. The Department is the properly delegated CWA enforcement authority in the 

state of New Union. Id. The Federation alleged that between June 15 and July 15, 2011, Bowman 

violated the CWA by clearing wetlands without a permit, as required by sections 301(a) and 404 

of the Act. 33 U.S.C.A. §§ 1311(a), 1344 (Westlaw 2012).  

 Shortly thereafter, the Department sent Bowman a notice of violation. R. at 4. Bowman 

settled that violation with the Department with an agreement memorialized in an administrative 

order on August 1, 2011. On August 10, 2011, the Department filed suit in New Union District 

Court under section 505, the citizen suit provision of the Clean Water Act. R. at 4; 33 U.S.C.A. § 

1365. On August 30, 2011, the Federation filed its own citizen suit in New Union District Court. 

R. at 4.  

 The Department motioned to enter a consent decree in its own section 505 suit on 

September 5, 2011. Id. The terms of the decree were identical to the terms of the settlement 

memorialized in the Department’s August 1 administrative order. Id.  

On September 15, 2011, the Federation filed a motion to intervene in the Department’s 

section 505 lawsuit against Bowman, and an opposition to entry of the decree proposed by the 

Department. Id. Around this same time, the Department filed a motion to intervene in the 

Federation’s suit. Id. The district court granted only this last motion to intervene, and did not act 

on any of the other motions in this case. Id. 

After discovery, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. R. at 3. On June 

1, 2012, the district court granted Bowman’s motion for summary judgment on the grounds that 

1) the Federation lacked standing; 2) the district court had no subject matter over the violation 
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because it was wholly past; 3) the Federation’s suit was barred by the Department’s prior 

enforcement action; and 4) that Bowman’s excavation of his property did not constitute a 

violation of the CWA.  

The Federation appeals on each of those issues. This Court granted review on September 

14, 2012.  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Appellee Jim Bob Bowman is a farmer owning 1000 acres adjacent to the Muddy River. 

R. at 3. Bowman’s land runs 650 feet along the bank of the Muddy and is wholly within the 

river’s one-hundred year flood plain. Id. At least some portion of Bowman’s property floods 

every year. Id. The parties agree that Bowman’s property is a wetland under the CWA, R. at 4, 

meaning that it exhibits the hydrological, vegetative and terrestrial conditions that typify the 

unique and vibrant ecosystem at water’s edge. See U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENG’RS, WETLANDS 

DELINEATION MANUAL 6 (1987), available at http://el.erdc. 

usace.army.mil/wetlands/pdfs/wlman87.pdf. Indeed, Bowman’s land and the surrounding 

environs have historically supported a lively amphibian community, a recreational fishery, and 

scenery so beautiful that New Union residents often used the area for picnicking and boating. R. 

at 6.  

Sadly, on June 15, 2011, the ecological vitality and aesthetic beauty of the Muddy River 

wetland habitat in and around Bowman’s land came under fire. On that date, Bowman began an 

excavation project that would eventually destroy 996.65 of the 1000 acres of wetland ecosystem 

on his property, with the intent to finish the job once the remaining 3.35 acres sufficiently 

drained. Id. at 4 (225’ x 650’ feet of river frontage, or 3.35 of his 1000 wetland acres). The 

month-long project saw Bowman use bulldozers to level trees and other vegetation and burn the 

detritus, to reform the topography of the land to suit his purposes, and to create a ditch running 
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the length of his property perpendicular to the Muddy to facilitate the discharge of runoff from 

his eventual agricultural activities. Id.  

Midway through Bowman’s excavation, the Federation sent to Bowman and the 

Department a notice of its intent to sue under the citizen suit provisions of the Act. Id. The 

Federation alleged that Bowman performed all of these wetland-clearing activities without a 

permit in violation of sections 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. Id. at 3-4.  

The Federation, a nonprofit organized for the protection of New Union fish and wildlife 

habitats, asserted injuries to its members stemming from Bowman’s excavations. Its members 

perceived increased pollution in the Muddy after Bowman commenced his wetland-clearing 

operation. R. at 6. The frog population of the area has all but disappeared, impacting members’ 

recreational and subsistence interests in that ecosystem. Id. And members rightly feared that with 

the destruction of the wetland comes the loss of its abilities to absorb sediment and pollution, and 

to act as a buffer zone to prevent flooding when the river is high. Id. Each of these disturbances 

in the ecosystem represents a threat to the continued integrity of the Muddy River.  

In response to the Federation’s notice of intent to sue, the Department sent Bowman a 

notice of violation for clearing the wetland without a permit. Id. at 4. Rather than admit fault, 

Bowman acceded to a settlement with the Department. Id. The settlement required Bowman only 

to 1) convey a conservation easement over the land he had not cleared, plus a small buffer zone 

(together, the “conservation area”); 2) to keep the conservation area in its natural state by not 

developing it and by remediating the wetland in the buffer zone; and 3) to not clear the 

remaining wetlands in the area, effectively, the conservation area. R. at 4. The settlement did not 

require Bowman to refrain from any activities or to address conditions on the rest of his land that 

will inevitably lead to future CWA violations, such as the need to re-clear his field after annual 
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inundation, nor did it schedule any obligations or deadlines for his compliance with the 

settlement or the Act. See id. at 4. Although the Department was authorized to assess penalties of 

up to $125,000.00 against Bowman for the violations, it did not. Id.  

Despite the settlement, the Department brought suit against Bowman for the violations in 

the district court. Id. at 5. Shortly thereafter, the Department motioned to enter a decree, 

memorializing the terms of the settlement. Id.  

The Federation is concerned that the settlement is insufficient to serve the goals of the 

Clean Water Act and to protect the Muddy River habitat. Accordingly, it filed its own suit on 

August 20, 2011, seeking an injunction requiring Bowman to remove the fill material and restore 

the wetlands on the entirety of his property. Id. The district court found for Bowman, and the 

Federation timely filed this appeal.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 This case involves an appeal from the district court’s grant of summary judgment. R. at 

11. Summary judgment is appropriate if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the 

movant entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Therefore, the issues 

before this Court are questions of law and should be reviewed de novo. Pierce v. Underwood, 

487 U.S. 552, 557-58 (1988). Accordingly, this Court should afford no deference to the opinions 

and conclusions of the district court. See id.  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The district court erred in holding that the Federation did not have standing because the 

Federation’s injuries were only speculative. To meet the constitutional standing threshold for 

actual injury in a CWA action, a person need only show that they either used a waterway at issue 

or were affected by its pollution. Sierra Club v. Morton established that, for the purpose of 

constitutional standing, actual injuries may be based on recreational, conservational, aesthetic, or 



 

 6 

economic interests. Here, Zeke Norton, who engages in recreational and subsistence frogging, 

noticed that after Bowman filled his wetlands, there were noticeably fewer frogs in the area. 

Additionally, all three of the affiants used the Muddy River and its banks for recreational 

boating, fishing, and picnicking. Moreover, according to Dottie Milford, the Muddy River 

looked more polluted after Bowman’s land clearing activities. Thus, all three affiants were 

injured by Bowman’s actions.  

Furthermore, since a wealth of scientific studies has conclusively established the 

relationship impacts of wetland loss on surrounding fisheries and amphibian habitat, the suffered 

injury is traceable to Bowman’s land clearing activities. Additionally, the Court can order 

Bowman to remedy his violation by restoring the wetlands, thus, redressing the Federation’s 

injuries. Accordingly, as a representative organization of the three affiants, the Federation has 

standing to sue Bowman.  

The district court erred in holding that Bowman’s activities did not constitute a discharge 

and improperly determined that Bowman did not add any material since it applied the “from the 

outside world” definition to the term “addition.” The district court’s definition of “addition” is 

contrary to Congressional intent, since it would permit massive destructive impacts to the 

chemical, physical and biological integrity of wetlands. Furthermore, courts have consistently 

found a discharge where no “outside” material was added, but instead a previously existing 

material was altered, in its physical or biological integrity, or in its chemical composition. This 

Court should define a discharge as an addition of a material where no such material existed 

previously and, thus, find that Bowman discharged pollutants when he bulldozed trees, dumped 

vegetation and ashes into the trenches and leveled his wetland.  
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The district court erred in holding that Bowman’s violation of the CWA was “wholly 

past;” instead, it is “continuous” or “ongoing.” Future rain events make it virtually certain that 

discharges of pollutants will flow down Bowman’s point source ditch into the Muddy River, 

establishing a prima facie violation of the CWA each time it rains. Furthermore, Bowman’s 

unpermitted conversion of his wetlands to an agricultural field clearly makes him ineligible for 

the agricultural exemption under CWA section 404(f)(1). Additionally, it is likely that future 

deluges from the Muddy River will require additional land clearing activities to maintain 

agricultural utility. Finally, under Justice Scalia’s concurrence in Gwaltney, Bowman’s wetland 

destruction is eminently remediable. This Court should observe this standard and declare that 

Bowman’s CWA violation is ongoing until it is remedied and his wetlands restored. 

 The district court erred in finding that the Department’s prosecution of Bowman for his 

CWA violations was sufficiently diligent to bar the Federation’s subsequent citizen suit. For a 

court to consider a prosecution diligent, it must be capable of bringing a CWA violator into 

compliance with the Act, and must in good faith be calculated to do so. When a prosecution 

culminates in a settlement, the terms of that settlement form the basis for a diligence 

determination. Here, the settlement between Bowman and the Department does not require 

Bowman to address the unpermitted land clearing behaviors that gave rise to his violations, nor 

does it facilitate his compliance by including penalties or a compliance schedule. Rather, it only 

requires Bowman to grant an easement on and maintain as wetland a tiny fraction of the land he 

impermissibly excavated. Because the terms of the settlement are not calculated in good faith to 

bring Bowman into compliance, it cannot be said to be a diligent prosecution. As such, the 

Department’s prior action cannot bar the Federation’s suit.  
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE FEDERATION STANDING BECAUSE IT 

FULFILLED ALL CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY STANDING REQUIREMENTS FOR 

CITIZEN SUITS BROUGHT UNDER THE CLEAN WATER ACT. 

Standing requires resolution of two distinct inquiries, “involv[ing] both constitutional 

limitations on federal-court jurisdiction and prudential limitations on its exercise.”
 
Bennett v. 

Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 162 (1997). Prospective plaintiffs must establish both types of standing. 

Additionally, where an organization seeks to bring a case on behalf of its members, that 

organization must also associational standing requirements. See, e.g., Hunt v. Wash. State Apple 

Advertising Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333 (1977).  

A. The Federation has constitutional standing because its members have 

suffered actual injuries, which are fairly traceable to Bowman’s 

actions and which this Court can redress. 

The conceptual origin of constitutional standing lies in Article III of the U.S. 

Constitution, “limit[ing] the ‘judicial power’ of the United States to the resolution of ‘cases’ and 

‘controversies.’” Valley Forge Christian Coll. v. Americans United for Separation of Church and 

State, 454 U.S. 464, 471 (1982); U.S. Const. art. III, § 1, cl. 1. The requirement that a litigant 

have standing ensures that a case or controversy exists as to uphold the separation of powers 

doctrine. Additionally, standing analysis focuses upon “whether a party has a sufficient stake in 

an otherwise justiciable controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that controversy.” Sierra 

Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 731 (1972); see Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975). To 

establish constitutional standing, a plaintiff must show 1) that he or she suffered an actual injury 

(“injury in fact”); 2) that there is a fairly traceable causal connection between the injury and the 

defendant’s conduct (“causality”); and 3) that a court’s favorable decision is likely to redress the 

injury (“redressability”). Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992). 
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1. Bowman’s wetland clearing caused particularized injuries to Federation 

members’ recreational, aesthetic, and environmental interests in the 

Muddy River. 

The Supreme Court has defined “actual injury” or “injury in fact” as “an invasion of a 

judicially cognizable interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, 

not conjectural or hypothetical[.]” Id. Injury to a litigant’s conservational and recreational 

interests establish an injury in fact. Sierra Club, 405 U.S. at 738 (quoting Ass’n of Data 

Processing Service Orgs., Inc. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150, 154 (1970)). In Defenders of Wildlife, the 

Court clarified that the mere “desire to use or observe an animal species, even for purely 

[a]esthetic purposes, is undeniably a cognizable interest for purpose of standing.” Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 562-63 (quoting Sierra Club, 405 U.S. at 734). Courts have acknowledged 

many cognizable interests for standing purposes. See, e.g., Scenic Hudson Preservation Conf. v. 

FPC, 354 F.2d 608 (2nd Cir. 1972) (interests in aesthetics, recreation, and orderly community 

planning affected by federal licensing of a hydroelectric project); Crowther v. Seaborg, D.C., 

312 F.Supp. 1205 (D. Colo. 1970) (interest in the health and safety of persons residing near the 

site of a proposed atomic blast); Envtl. Defense Fund, Inc. v. Hardin, 428 F.2d 1093 (D.C. Cir. 

1970) (interest in health affected by decision of Agriculture Secretary refusing to suspend 

registration of certain pesticides containing DDT). 

Here, the affiants, Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton and Effie Lawless, testified that they use 

the Muddy River for recreational purposes such as boating, fishing, and picnicking on its banks 

in close proximity to Jim Bob Bowman’s property. R. at 6. Furthermore, Norton testified that he 

has used Bowman’s wetlands for recreational and subsistence frogging for years. Id. To grasp the 

impact of Bowman’s land clearing activities upon the affiants, it is critical to understand the 

diverse functions of wetlands and the effect of their destruction upon existing land and water 

resources and associated mammal, fish, bird and amphibian habitats. 
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Freshwater wetlands provide flood and storm control by absorption and storage capacity 

of storm runoff, while also providing protection of channels and harbors by absorbing silt and 

organic matter. N. Y. State Dept. of Envtl. Conservation, Wetland Functions And/Or Values, 

(quoting N. Y. State Envtl. Conservation Law, Art. 24, § 24-0105, available at 

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/6265.html [hereinafter “NYDEC Findings”]. Although he agreed 

to conserve as wetland a nominal 3.35 acre area, R. at 5, he destroyed in the process 99.65% of 

his wetlands. That land can no longer serve its absorptive function. Therefore, the amount of 

shoreline available for picnicking and habitat in the river area surrounding Bowman’s land will 

now be prone to inundation from flood events whose effects would otherwise have been 

mitigated by the existence of 996 acres of Bowman’s previously-functioning wetlands. 

Freshwater wetlands also provide pollution treatment by serving as biological and 

chemical oxidation and neutralization basins, and provide significant erosion control by serving 

as sedimentation retention areas and filtering basins. See NYDEC Findings, supra. Wetlands are 

an important source of nutrients in freshwater food cycles and are nursery grounds and 

sanctuaries for freshwater fish. Id. The loss of 996 acres of Bowman’s wetlands will increase 

river-borne pollution and sediment while decreasing available food and fish breeding habitat, 

reducing the quality of Milford, Norton, and Lawless’ recreational fishing interests in the 

surrounding river.  

Finally, Bowman’s excavation affects the quality and quantity of recreational frog 

populations in the areas immediately adjacent to his land. The concept of “ecological 

connectivity,” demonstrates this point: “individual amphibians have limited abilities to migrate 

long distances, often travelling less than one kilometer. Habitats must therefore be close enough 

together [e.g. connected] to allow successful migration among sites.” Brief for Dr. Gene Likens, 
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et al. as Amicus Curiae Supporting Respondents at 20-21, Solid Waste Agency of N. Cook Cnty. 

v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng'rs, 531 U.S. 159 (2001) (No. 99-1178), 2000 WL 1369410 at *21. 

[hereinafter Amicus Brief] (Respondents explaining the concept of “ecological connectivity” in 

their amicus brief). The degraded amphibian habitat in Bowman’s drained wetlands was 

formerly the habitat of numerous frogs. R. at 6. Now a 996-acre “frog desert,” it presents a 

significant impediment for inter-habitat migration of frogs in the surrounding area and will have 

a corresponding effect on overall area frog populations and therefore Norton’s recreational and 

subsistence frogging activity.  

Loss of Bowman’s wetlands also injures the Federation members’ aesthetic interest in the 

river. The Muddy looks “more polluted to [Dottie Milford] than it did prior to Bowman’s 

activities.” Id. The district court superfluously described the “aesthetics of navigational use of 

the river” as “unaffected” because of Bowman’s establishment of a 225-acre riverfront buffer 

zone, id., which ostensibly will shield boaters from viewing the degraded wetlands beyond it. 

However, Milford’s aesthetic injury here is to her recreational use of the Muddy itself for 

picnicking, boating, and fishing, and her right to enjoy what had previously been a cleaner, 

clearer river. The loss of the wetlands resulted in increased sedimentation, and thus, a muddier 

and less aesthetically enjoyable Muddy River.  

Accordingly, this Court should find that that Bowman’s land clearing activities resulted 

in concrete and particularized injuries to Federation members’ various interests in Bowman’s 

wetlands, the Muddy River, and the surrounding habitat.  

2. The injuries suffered by Federation members are fairly traceable to 

Bowman’s excavation of approximately 996 acres of river-adjacent 

wetlands. 

Article III of the Constitution requires that a court act only to redress injuries fairly 

traceable to the challenged action of the defendant. Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 426 
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U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976). However, to be “fairly traceable,” a plaintiff need not prove causation 

with absolute scientific rigor. Public Interest Research Group of N.J. v. Powell Duffryn 

Terminals, Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 72 (3d Cir. 1990). Rather, plaintiffs need only show they are more 

than “concerned bystanders” and that there is a “substantial likelihood” that the defendant’s 

conduct caused the plaintiffs’ harm. Id. (quoting Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Envtl. Study 

Group, Inc., 438 U.S. 59, 75 (1978)). 

As active users of the Muddy River, Milford, Norton and Lawless observed actual 

changes to the surrounding river ecosystem following Bowman’s massive wetland filling project. 

R. at 6. Milford testified that the Muddy now “looks more polluted to her than it did prior to 

Bowman’s activities.” Id. By constructing a wide swale to carry runoff from his new field 

directly into the river, id. at 4, Bowman virtually ensured that silt, which otherwise would have 

been absorbed and stored in his formerly-functional wetlands, would enter the Muddy with every 

measurable rain event. This will adversely affect fish feeding and breeding habitat, opportunities 

for recreational boating, and the aesthetics of the river itself. Moreover, the imposition of a 996-

acre “frog desert” on Bowman’s property will impact population densities of amphibians on 

adjacent lands by inhibiting inter-habitat connectivity. See supra Part I.A.1. This is substantially 

likely to affect Norton’s sport and subsistence frogging on these adjacent lands.  

Furthermore, the affiants’ observations, supported by the weight of scientific evidence 

confirming the effects of the massive loss of wetlands on river ecosystem health, see, e.g., 

NYDEC Findings, supra; Amicus Brief, supra, demonstrate a substantial likelihood that the 

affiants’ injuries are fairly traceable to Bowman’s actions. Furthermore, Bowman’s construction 

of a “silt conduit” linking his new fields with the Muddy River is likely to have a “slingshot 

effect,” exacerbating the deleterious impact of his wetland clearing activities on the river. The 
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Court should reverse the district court’s ruling on the standing issue to permit the Federation to 

develop, with further scientific evidence at trial, the substantial relationship between Bowman’s 

activities and the Federations’ injuries. 

3. This Court can redress the Federation’s injury since the Court could use 

the Clean Water Act and New Union Statute to provide for injunctive 

relief by directing Bowman to restore his wetlands. 

 A plaintiff must show that his injury is likely to be redressed by the Court’s favorable 

decision. Section 505 of the CWA authorizes the EPA Administrator to “perform such act or 

duty” to enforce a CWA effluent standard or limitation. 33 U.S.C.A. § 1365(a). Sections 309(a), 

(d), and (f) of the CWA permit the Administrator to issue injunctive orders with respect to such a 

standard or limitation, including directives to clean up CWA violations and issue restoration 

orders. 33 U.S.C.A. §§ 1319(a), (d), (g) (Westlaw 2012); see also United States v. Pozsgai, 999 

F.2d 719, 736 (3d Cir. 1993) (upholding district court’s order to private landowner to restore 

illegally-filled wetlands.) The New Union statute under which the Department brought its 

enforcement action is virtually identical in relevant parts to sections 309(a) and (g) of the CWA. 

R. at 4; see 33 U.S.C.A. §§ 1319(a), (g). Accordingly, these federal and state statutes provide the 

basis for the Court to grant the injunctive relief sought by the Federation because they permit the 

fashioning of an order to restore Bowman’s wetlands to the extent deemed appropriate by the 

Department. 

B. The Federation fulfills the statutory requirement for standing because 

the interests the Federation seeks to protect fall within the zone of 

interests protected by the Clean Water Act. 

Apart from the question of constitutional standing, to satisfy the prudential requirements 

for statutory standing a plaintiff must show that the interest sought to be protected is arguably 

within the “zone of interest” protected or regulated by the statute under which the case is 

brought. Ass’n of Data Processing Service Orgs., 397 U.S. at 150. That interest may be aesthetic, 
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conservational, recreational, spiritual, or economic, depending on the Congressional intent 

animating the statute at issue. Id. at 154. Unlike the relatively more stringent tests for 

constitutional standing, statutory standing is not a demanding test. Clarke v. Securities Indus. 

Ass’n, 479 U.S. 388, 395 (1987). 

Congress declared the goal, or zone of interest, of the CWA to be the “restoration and 

maintenance of the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” 33 

U.S.C.A. § 1251(a) (Westlaw 2012). That ordinary citizens were empowered as “private 

attorneys general” to enforce the Act’s provisions, see 33 U.S.C.A. § 1365, signaled a broad 

Congressional intent demonstrating that its citizen suit provision was meant for litigating clean 

water issues in the public interest, “in which it is common to think all persons have an interest.” 

Bennett, 520 U.S. at 165; Ass’n of Data Processing Service Orgs., 397 U.S. at 153. While 

Bennett concerned a citizen suit brought under the Endangered Species Act, the operative portion 

of its provision was identical to the “any person” language contained in the CWA. The Bennett 

court found the use of that expansive language effectively negated the zone of interests test 

because of the absence of restrictive formulation ordinarily used by Congress to limit lawsuits 

brought under other federal statutes. Bennett, 520 U.S. at 164-65. Notwithstanding negation of 

the zone of interests test for citizen suit provisions utilizing such language, a simple analysis of 

the Federation’s interests vis-à-vis the broad goals of the CWA is warranted. 

Here, the Federation members’ interests are the aesthetic, conservational, and economic 

use of the Muddy River and its environs, which Bowman injured when he cleared, dredged, and 

filled his wetlands. See supra Part I.A.1-2. Those members attested to their longstanding use of 

the river and their pursuit of recreational and aesthetic interests contingent upon the river’s 

health. R. At 6. The Federation seeks to “remove the fill material and restore the wetlands.” Id. at 



 

 15 

5. Such restoration would renew the wetlands’ flood control and pollution-absorptive qualities, 

and correspondingly improve the health of the Muddy River. This promotes the Act’s goal of 

restoring the Nation’s waters. Accordingly, the Federation’s protected interest clearly falls within 

the zone of interest of the CWA and its affiants are the types of plaintiffs Congress contemplated 

when it drafted its citizen suit provision. 

C. The Federation may bring suit in the name of its members because it 

satisfies the Hunt tests for associational standing. 

To show “associational standing,” an organization must show 1) that the interests sued 

over are germane to the organization’s purpose; 2) that the claim and relief do not require 

individualized proof, and 3) that individual members would have had standing themselves. Hunt, 

432 U.S. at 343. Here, the Federation is organized to protect riparian habitat. R. at 4. It seeks an 

injective relied to prevent future violations and to remedy those past. Id. at 4-5. And, as 

discussed, see supra Part. I.A-B., individual members would have standing in their own right. 

Therefore, the Federation meets the associational standing requirements.  

In light of the foregoing, this Court should overturn the district court by finding that the 

Federation has standing because it meets the constitutional standing requirements, that its interest 

in improving the health of the Muddy falls within the zone of interest protected by the CWA, and 

that it meets the associational standing requirements.  

II. BOWMAN VIOLATED THE CLEAN WATER ACT BY DISCHARGING DREDGED AND FILL 

MATERIALS WITHOUT A PERMIT WHEN HE BULLDOZED VEGETATION AND PREVIOUSLY-

EXCAVATED SOIL INTO TRENCHES AND ALTERED THE ELEVATION OF HIS WETLANDS. 

Section 301(a) of the CWA prohibits the “discharge of any pollutant by any person” 

except in compliance with a Corps-issued permit pursuant to sections 404 and 402 of the Act. 33 

U.S.C.A. §§ 1311(a), 1344(a) (Corps may issue permits for the discharge of pollutants, such as 

“dredged or fill material into the navigable waters,” including wetlands). Furthermore, CWA 
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section 502(12) defines “discharge of a pollutant” as “any addition of any pollutant to navigable 

waters from any point source.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(12) (Westlaw 2012). Unless the Corps grants 

such a permit, the discharge of a pollutant into a wetland constitutes a violation of the CWA.  

A. Bowman’s property meets the statutory definition of “navigable 

water” because it is adjacent to the Muddy River and contains all 

characteristics of a wetland.  

Section 502(7) of the CWA defines “navigable waters” as “waters of the United States.” 

33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(7). This definition includes any wetlands adjacent to those waters. United 

States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 133-35 (1985) (Supreme Court 

upholding the Corp’s definition, which included wetlands adjacent to navigable waters even if 

not inundated or frequently flooded). Accordingly, the Corps has jurisdiction over wetlands that 

are adjacent to any navigable waters. 33 C.F.R. § 328.3. Furthermore, the Corps and EPA use 

three mandatory criteria to classify a wetland: hydrology, vegetation, and soil conditions. U.S. 

ARMY CORPS OF ENG’RS, WETLANDS DELINEATION MANUAL 6 (1987), available at http://el.erdc. 

usace.army.mil/wetlands/pdfs/wlman87.pdf. Here, Bowman does not contest that the Muddy 

River is commonly used for recreational navigation. R. at 3. Nor does he contest that his property 

is a wetland as determined by the Corps’ Wetlands Delineation Manual; he concedes that it is 

“hydrologically connected” to the Muddy, covered with trees and other vegetation “characteristic 

of wetlands,” and was at least partly “saturated” with water in June 2011, when Bowman 

illegally dredged and filled his wetlands. Id. at 3-4. Accordingly, this Court should find that 

Bowman’s property is properly classified as a wetland. 

B. Bowman’s unpermitted use of a bulldozer for land clearing and earth-

moving activities represented a point source from which pollutants 

were discharged, which is a violation of the Clean Water Act.  

Section 502(14) of CWA defines “point source” to include “any discernible, confined and 

discrete conveyance . . . from which pollutants are or may be discharged.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 
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1362(14). The courts have established that mechanized earth-moving equipment, such as a 

bulldozer, is a point source under this definition. Borden Ranch P'ship v. U.S. Army Corps of 

Eng'rs, 261 F.3d 810, 814-815 (9th Cir. 2001), (bulldozers and tractors), aff’d by an equally 

divided court, 537 U.S. 99 (2002) (per curiam); Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League v. Marsh, 715 

F.2d 897 (5
th

 Cir. 1983) (“Avoyelles II”) (bulldozers and land clearing equipment); United States 

v. Banks, 873 F. Supp. 650, 657 (S.D. Fla. 1995), (bulldozers and dump trucks), aff'd, 15 F.3d 

916, 921 (11th Cir. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S. Ct. 852 (1998). Here, Bowman used bulldozers 

for land clearing and earth-moving operations on his wetlands. R. at 4. He does not contest that 

the bulldozers were point sources. Id. at 8. Accordingly, this Court should find that the 

bulldozers Bowman used for land clearing operations were point sources. 

C. Bowman discharged pollutants, including fill and dredged materials, 

when he bulldozed previously-excavated soil and vegetation remains 

into trenches and proceeded to alter the elevation of his property.  

The biological materials Bowman removed from the ground, when he excavated trenches 

in his wetlands, meet the statutory definition of dredged material. In the pertinent part, section 

502(6) of the CWA defines “pollutant” as dredged spoil, biological materials, incinerator 

residue, rock, and sand. 33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(6). Dredged material is “material that is excavated 

or dredged from waters of the United States.” 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2; see also 

“Spoil.” Merriam-Webster.com, available at http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/spoil 

(2012) (spoil is similarly defined as “earth and rock excavated or dredged”).  

Thus, when one digs up biological material from a wetland, the material becomes a 

pollutant. United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 335-36 (4th Cir. 2000) (a contractor created 

“dredged spoil,” when he removed earth and vegetable matter from a wetland). Additionally, a 

person may create dredged material when his activity “substantially disturbs the root system” of 

vegetation. 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(2)(ii); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2 (activities that do more than “only 
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cutting or removing of vegetation above the ground . . . e.g., . . . chainsawing”); see also 

Avoyelles II, 715 F.2d at 923, FN 40 (EPA confirming the clearing of vegetation resulting in 

“significant disturbance of the soil” is a discharge). Here, Bowman “used a bulldozer to dig 

trenches” in his wetland and, eventually, “push[ed] [the dredged] soil” into them and “portions of 

the field.” R at 4. Furthermore, he used “used bulldozers to knock down trees,” id., presumably 

disturbing their root systems. Accordingly, and consistent with the EPA’s own interpretation of 

“discharge” in Avoyelles II, Bowman created dredged material, a pollutant.  

Moreover, when Bowman bulldozed the vegetation into trenches to level the property, R. 

at 4, he created a fill material. The CWA definition of “pollutant” does not include “fill 

material.” However, both the Corps and EPA define fill material as “rock, sand, soil, . . . [and] 

wood chips . . . ,” among other materials, that “ha[ve] the effect of . . . [c]hanging the bottom 

elevation of any portion of a [wetland].” 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(e); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2. Since section 

502(6) of the Act defines “pollutant” similarly, fill materials may be pollutants if they change the 

elevation of a wetland. 33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(6) (pollutant defined as, among others, biological 

materials, incinerator residue, rock, and sand). Here, Bowman “pushed the trees and leveled 

vegetation remains” (biological materials similar to wood chips), “ashes” (incinerator residue), 

and soil (presumably including rock and sand) into trenches on his wetlands. R. at 4. 

Furthermore, he changed the elevation of his wetlands by “level[ing] the resulting field.” Id. 

Therefore, Bowman deposited fill material, which he agrees is a pollutant, into his wetlands. Id. 

at 8. 
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D. Bowman’s bulldozing activities qualify as discharges of pollutants in 

violation of the Clean Water Act because they resulted in an 

ecological change to the composition of the soil in his wetlands when 

he redeposited soil and discharged vegetation remains into the 

trenches.   

Section 502(12) of the CWA defines discharge of a pollutant as “any addition of any 

pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(12). The Act does not 

define the term “addition.” However, the Corps and the EPA define discharge of dredged and fill 

material to mean the “addition of [dredged or fill] material into . . . [wetlands].” 33 C.F.R. § 

323.2(d), (f); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2. This includes any “redeposit [of dredged material] other than 

incidental fallback . . . including mechanized land clearing, ditching, channelization, or other 

excavation.” 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1)(iii); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2.  

While the district court interpreted the term “addition” to mean “from the outside world,” 

R. at 9, many courts have relied on a broader understanding, construing the term as an addition 

of a material where no such material existed previously, even if the net volume of material 

remained the same. See, e.g., Avoyelles II, 715 F.2d at 923 (holding “addition” may reasonably 

be understood to include “redeposit” where landowner's activities placing soil in the same 

wetland would alter the character of the wetland soil and limit ecological functions.); Deaton, 

209 F.3d at 334-37 (holding sidecasting of excavated soil was “addition” when the previously 

undisturbed soil was transformed into dredged spoil and then redeposited into a ditch.); United 

States v. Fabian, 522 F. Supp. 2d 1078, 1093 (N.D. Ind. 2007) (holding trust beneficiary “added” 

a pollutant to a wetland when he laterally moved soil, rock, biological material, brush, stumps, 

and vegetation). Furthermore, this definition is consistent with the Congressional goal in creating 

the CWA: to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation's 

waters.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1251(a) (declaring goals and policy of Congress). Furthermore, district 

court’s “outside world” definition is contrary to Congressional intent since it would permit 
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massive destructive impacts to the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation’s 

waters, without classifying these impacts as “discharges” requiring a section 404 permit. 

In Deaton, the Fourth Circuit held that sidecasting, which involved deposit of previously 

dredged or excavated material from a wetland back into the same wetland, constituted a 

discharge of a pollutant. Deaton, 209 F.3d at 334-37. In excavating soil from the wetland, the 

contractor created dredged spoil, a pollutant. Id. at 335-36. The court justified its reasoning by 

stating “[w]hat is important is that once [earth and vegetative] material was excavated from the 

wetland, its redeposit . . . added a pollutant where none had been before.” Id. (emphasis added). 

Prior to this decision, another Fourth Circuit justice determined that by moving extracted 

material, the defendant changed the physical integrity of the material itself, and thus, the 

wetland. United States v. Wilson, 133 F.3d 251, 273-74 (4th Cir. 1997) (Payne, J., concurring in 

part, dissenting in part), (arguing that when defendants dredged sub-surface material and added it 

to the surface material by sidecasting, they changed the physical composition of the material, 

adding a material not previously present).  

Furthermore, courts have defined “addition” to apply not only to materials altering the 

physical integrity of a wetland, but also to those altering its chemical composition and ecology, 

even if the materials are not from the “outside world.” Borden Ranch, 261 F.3d at 810. In 

Bordern Ranch, the defendant engaged in “deep ripping,” a procedure in which long metal 

prongs are dragged through the soil behind a tractor in order to destroy the dense layer of soil 

called “clay pan,” which prevents the wetland from draining. Id. at 812. Since the procedure 

would have destroyed the wetland and forever changed its ecology, where the “soil was 

wrenched up, moved around, and redeposited,” the court held deep ripping amounted to addition 

even though the soil ended up in the same wetland. Id. at 814-15. Additionally, introducing new 
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materials, such as vegetative matter, into an environment can alter the chemical makeup of the 

soil through decomposition, which releases organic materials into the soil. See D. A. NEHER ET 

AL., Effects of Disturbance and Ecosystem on Decomposition, APPLIED SOIL ECOLOGY 23, 165-

66 (2003), www.uvm.edu/~dneher/Publications/Decomposition%20ASE.pdf.  

Here, Bowman “used a bulldozer to dig trenches and pushed the trees and leveled 

vegetation remains and ashes into them.” R. at 4. By digging the trenches, he created dredged 

spoil, a statutory pollutant. 33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(6). Later, when he “push[ed] soil . . . into the 

trenches” and “portions of the field,” R. at 4, he redeposited a pollutant by adding a material that 

was not previously present.  

Bowman cannot argue that his redeposit is exempt from a 404 permit because it is 

“incidental fallback.” The section 404 permit program covers only actual discharge or placement 

of dredged and fill material into waters of the United States. 33 C.F.R. § 323.2 (d); 40 C.F.R. § 

232.2. It does not extend to incidental fallback. 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1)(iii); 40 C.F.R § 232.2; 

see also, Am. Mining Cong. v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 951 F. supp. 267, 271 (D.D.C. 1997), 

aff’d sub nom. Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 145 F.3d 1339 (D.C. 1998). 

Courts have framed the distinction between incidental fallback and redeposit as having two 

factors: (1) the time the material is held before being dropped to earth and (2) the distance 

between the place where the material is collected and the place where it is dropped.” Nat'l Ass'n 

of Home Builders v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, CIV.A.01 0274 JR, 2007 WL 259944 (D.D.C. 

Jan. 30, 2007). However, the incidental fallback exception does not apply to a person engaging 

in “mechanized land clearing, ditching, channelization and other excavation activity in a water of 

the United States, which would result in a redeposit of dredged material,” unless that person 

obtains a permit. 33 C.F.R. § 323.2.  
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Here, Bowman did not apply for a permit and his activities have, and will continue to 

result, in illegal mechanized land clearing and other excavation activity. R. at 4. Additionally, 

this Court cannot reasonably define Bowman’s land clearing activities, which lasted for roughly 

a month, id., as incidental fallback. See Nat’l Mining Ass’n, 145 F.3d at 1403 (discussing 

incidental fallback as materials falling from a bucket used to excavate a wetland). Moreover, 

Bowman pushed “[excavated] soil from high portions of the field into the trenches and low lying 

portions of the field,” which, presumably, was a significant distance since Bowman’s property 

totals to one thousand acres. R. at 3-4. As such, this Court should not apply the incidental 

fallback exception to Bowman’s land clearing activities.  

Finally, by bulldozing the trees, leveled vegetation remains, and ashes into the trenches 

and leveling the field, Bowman discharged fill materials, which affected the physical integrity of 

the soil by mixing sub-surface and surface materials. Id. Additionally, Bowman altered the 

chemical integrity of the wetlands by adding biological materials, such as trees and vegetation, to 

the soil. See D. A. NEHER ET AL., supra.  

Bowman added pollutants to his wetlands when he redeposited dredged spoil and 

bulldozed fill materials into the trenches. Accordingly, this Court should find that Bowman 

added materials that were not previously present and, therefore, changed the physical, chemical, 

and biological integrity of his wetlands. 

III. BOWMAN’S EXCAVATION CONSTITUTES A CONTINUOUS CLEAN WATER ACT VIOLATION 

BECAUSE FUTURE STORM EVENTS WILL COMPEL POINT SOURCE DISCHARGES OF LISTED 

POLLUTANTS INTO THE MUDDY RIVER, BECAUSE FUTURE LAND CLEARING ACTION 

WILL LIKELY BE NECESSARY FOLLOWING REGULAR INUNDATION EVENTS, AND BECAUSE 

REMEDIAL ACTION WOULD CURE ONGOING VIOLATIONS. 

For a court to assume jurisdiction over a citizen suit, citizen-plaintiffs must make good 

faith allegations of continuous or intermittent violations of the CWA by the defendant. See 

Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 49 (1987). Here, 
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Bowman’s destruction of 996 acres of wetlands will assuredly induce future violations of a CWA 

effluent standard. These include unpermitted “point source” discharges from Bowman’s newly 

constructed drainage ditch into the Muddy River, a water of the United States. Additionally, 

Bowman’s wetland-fill materials are composed wholly of dredged and biological material, which 

are “pollutants.” R. at 4; see supra Part II.C. Furthermore, because the entirety of the impaired 

wetland is within the river’s hundred-year flood plain, R. at 3, Bowman will need to perform 

regular post-inundation land clearing activities to maintain an arable field. Finally, because the 

nature of Bowman’s wetland destruction lends itself to remedial measures that could clearly 

eliminate the cause of the violation, the Court, consistent with Justice Scalia’s concurrence in 

Gwaltney, may reasonably view the ongoing effects of Bowman’s action as consistent with the 

threshold language of CWA section 505(a), “to be in violation.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1365(a); 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 69 (Scalia, J., concurring). 

A. Regular storm events will compel future Clean Water Act effluent 

violations by discharging pollutants into the Muddy River via the 

point source ditch Bowman constructed for that express purpose. 

 For federal subject-matter jurisdiction to attach under the citizen suit provision of the 

CWA, a plaintiff must make a good-faith allegation of “continuous or intermittent” – but not 

“wholly past” – violations. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 64, 67. Citizen-plaintiffs are not required to 

provide proof of violation. Id. at 65-66. While a defendant may challenge a plaintiff’s allegations 

of continuing or intermittent violations via a motion for summary judgment, the burden of proof 

in such a motion is on the defendant. Id. For such a challenge, the defendant’s burden is a heavy 

one: he or she “must demonstrate that it is absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior 

could not reasonably be expected to recur.” Id. at 66. 

 Since section 301(a) of the CWA prohibits “discharge of any pollutants” into a wetland 

without a section 402 or 404 permit, any person discharging such pollutants from a point source 
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will be in violation of the act. See supra Part.II. Additionally, pollutants include dredged material 

and biological materials. See supra Part II.C. Here, Bowman’s ditch, constructed to drain his 

wetlands directly into the Muddy, is a listed “point source” under the CWA. 33 U.S.C.A. § 

1362(14). As such, Bowman’s ditch will continue to discharge effluent consisting of dredged 

material and biological material, see supra Part II.C-D., into the Muddy River during, and 

immediately following, storm events with any recordable precipitation. Accordingly, each time it 

rains, Bowman will be committing a violation of the CWA effluent limitation, because he has 

not applied for a sections 402 or 404 permit, nor does the settlement agreement between him and 

the Department require him to do so.  

Bowman will likely argue that CWA sections 502(14) and 404(f)(1) provide an 

“agricultural exception” to such discharges. 33 U.S.C.A. §§ 1362(14), 1344(f)(1). Section 

502(14) states, “[t]he term ‘point source’ . . . does not include agricultural stormwater discharges 

and return flows from irrigated agriculture.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1362(14) (emphasis added). 

However, the same subsection explicitly categorizes “ditches” and “conduits” as point sources. 

Accordingly, the discharge of biological and dredged material from the impaired wetlands 

satisfies the elements for a CWA effluent violation.  

Furthermore, while section 404(f)(1) provides a narrow exemption for required discharge 

permits for ongoing farming activities, it is subject to the limiting language of section 404(f)(2), 

which “specifically takes away the exemption for activities that involve changing the use of the 

land.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1344(f)(2) (emphasis added); see Avoyelles II, 715 F.2d at 925-26; see also 

Environmental Policy Division of the Congressional Reference Service, 3 A Legislative History 

of the Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972 (Senate Public Works Comm. Print 

1978) (hereinafter “Legislative History”), at 420 (statements of Rep. Harsha during the House 
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debates); Legislative History at 470-74 (statements of Sen. Muskie during the Senate debates on 

new subsection 404(f)). Because Bowman converted his wetland to agricultural land, thereby 

changing its use, he cannot invoke the section 404(f)(1) exemption. 

B. Ongoing, intermittent violations are reasonably foreseeable because 

regular river inundation of the impaired wetland will necessitate 

future land clearing to maintain its agricultural use. 

The EPA has stated that “if vegetation or other materials are redeposited in [a] wetland, 

that activity is a discharge.” Avoyelles II, 715 F.2d at 922-23 (emphasis added) (“‘addition,’ as 

used in the definition of the term ‘discharge,’ may reasonably be understood to include 

‘redeposit.’”); see supra Part II.D. Here, Bowman’s entire property is a wetland. R. at 3-4; see 

supra Part II.A. Furthermore, Bowman’s impaired wetlands lie wholly within the one hundred-

year flood plain of the Muddy, and were, prior to his land clearing activity, “covered with trees 

and other vegetation characteristic of wetlands.” R. at 3. Portions of the property are inundated 

every year when the river is high. Id. It is reasonably likely that, in the aftermath of high-water 

events, Bowman will bulldoze, re-clear, and level inundated parts of the field to restore their 

utility for agriculture. Accordingly, any future work in which “vegetation or other materials are 

redeposited” on the impaired wetland will constitute an illegal discharge. 

C. Bowman’s failure to remediate his impaired wetland constitutes a 

continuing Clean Water Act violation, consistent with Justice Scalia’s 

concurrence in Gwaltney. 

In his Gwaltney concurrence, Justice Scalia parsed the meaning of the section 505 phrase 

“to be in violation,” in an effort to discern what should constitute a “continuing violation” under 

the CWA: 

The phrase in § 505(a), ‘to be in violation,’ unlike the phrase ‘to be violating’ or 

‘to have committed a violation,’ suggests a state rather than an act - the opposite 

of a state of compliance . . . . When a [party] has violated an effluent standard or 

limitation, it remains, for purposes of § 505(a), ‘in violation’ of that standard or 
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limitation so long as it has not put in place remedial measures that clearly 

eliminate the cause of the violation. 

 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 69 (Scalia, J., concurring). For Justice Scalia, where remedial measures 

existed which could have the effect of curing past violations by the time the suit was brought, a 

party would remain “in violation” of section 505(a) until such measures were implemented by 

that party, thereby opening itself to suit under the Court’s standard in Gwaltney. Id. The district 

court correctly noted that the same “failure to remediate” standard is observed by the Corps for 

determining whether a section 404 violation has occurred. R. at 7; see also Sasser v. Adm’r, 990 

F.2d 127 (4th Cir. 1993); United States v. Cumberland Farms of Conn., 647 F.Supp. 1166, 1183-

84 (D. Mass. 1986), aff’d. 826 F.2d 1151 (1st Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1061 (1988). 

However, it incorrectly asserted that utilizing the same construction to interpret the standard for 

section 402 violations “would render without meaning the jurisdictional requirement for a 

continuing violation, since all violations would be continuing.” R. at 7. 

The district court’s logic is erroneous for two reasons. First, this argument fails to 

distinguish between different types of section 402 effluent violations. Gwaltney would clearly 

continue to bar any citizen suits for past discharges from point sources, which are not susceptible 

to remedial efforts due to natural dissipation or dispersion. Under Justice Scalia’s Gwaltney 

jurisprudence, only section 402 violations having persistent effects that are amenable to 

correction would constitute continuing violations, until remedied. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 69 

(Scalia, J., concurring). Here, the injunctive relief sought would restore the salutary effects 

previously provided by Bowman’s unimpaired wetland. Because Bowman’s violations are 

susceptible to remedy, his wetland destruction should constitute a continuing violation under 

CWA section 505. 
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Second, public policy supports Justice Scalia’s concurrance in Gwaltney. It deters 

violations like Bowman’s by requiring expensive after-the-fact remedies for section 402 or 404 

violations. Because Bowman’s wetland can be restored, as implicitly acknowledged by the 

Department’s settlement agreement ordering him to restore a 75-foot buffer zone, R. at 4, the 

Court should find a section 505(a) continuous violation exists for the remainder of his wetland 

property. 

The Court should find a section 505(a) continuing violation since future storm events will 

likely compel point source discharges of pollutants into the Muddy River; future land clearing 

action will likely be necessary following regular inundation events on his field; and remedial 

action would cure CWA violations consistent with Justice Scalia’s Gwaltney concurrence. See 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 69 (Scalia, J., concurring).  

IV. THE DEPARTMENT’S ENFORCEMENT ACTION CANNOT BAR THE FEDERATION’S SUIT 

BECAUSE THE DEPARTMENT-BOWMAN SETTLEMENT LACKS TERMS THAT ARE 

CALCULATED IN GOOD FAITH TO BRING BOWMAN INTO COMPLIANCE WITH THE CLEAN 

WATER ACT, AND THEREFORE CANNOT BE A DILIGENT PROSECUTION. 

The citizen suit provision, designed by Congress to “abate pollution when the 

government cannot or will not command compliance,” is a critical element of the CWA’s 

enforcement mechanisms. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 62. Section 505 of the CWA permits “any 

citizen” to bring an enforcement action against a violator of “effluent standards or limitations.” 

33 U.S.C.A. § 1365(a). However, because citizen suits “supplement rather than supplant 

government [enforcement] action,” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60, the CWA bars citizen suits when 

the government has “commenced and is diligently prosecuting” an alleged violation in court. 33 

U.S.C.A. § 1365(b)(1)(B). Additionally, section 309 of the Act extends this bar to citizen suits 

brought while the government is engaged in administrative enforcement action. 33 U.S.C.A. § 

1319(g)(6)(A)(ii). The purpose of the bar is to prevent duplicative suits against violators, 
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WashPIRG v. Pendleton Woolen Mills, 11 F.3d 883, 885 (9th Cir. 1993), and to prevent 

incursion on the enforcement authority’s “discretion to choose enforcement methods.” Gwaltney, 

484 U.S. at 60-61. Although the propriety of a citizen suit can hinge on other issues 

(commencement, comparability, etc.), only diligent prosecution is before this Court.  

In determining whether a prosecution culminating in a settlement is a diligent prosecution 

that can bar a subsequent citizen suit, courts look to whether the terms of the settlement are 

“capable of requiring compliance with the Act and are in good faith calculated to do so.” Friends 

of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 760 (7th Cir. 2004); 

see also Piney Run Pres. Ass’n v. Cnty. Comm’rs of Carroll Cnty., Md., 523 F.3d 453, 459 (4th 

Cir. 2008). Although diligence by the government is presumed, the analysis demands “more than 

mere acceptance of the potentially self-serving statements of a state agency and the violator with 

whom it settled.” Milwaukee, 382 F.3d at 760. Rather, courts should look to the “objective 

evidence from the court files with respect to the status of the state’s suit at the time that the 

citizens’ suit commenced and the prospects that the state suit would proceed expeditiously to a 

resolution.” Conn. Fund for the Env’t v. Contract Plating Co., Inc., 631 F.Supp. 1291, 1293 (D. 

Conn. 1986).  

At the time the Federation filed suit, the Department and Bowman had already agreed to 

the settlement that would form the basis for the district court’s consent decree. R. at 5. Thus, the 

proper “objective evidence . . . with respect to the status of the state’s suit” should be the terms 

of the settlement agreement between Bowman, the violator, and the Department, the State of 

New Union CWA enforcement agency. See id. at 4 (properly delegated authority to enforce the 

Act). In examining whether those terms are capable of requiring compliance with the Act, this 

Court should assess whether the settlement indicates modifications of behavior necessary for 
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Bowman to come into compliance, and whether it includes mechanisms that are designed to 

coerce those modifications. These types of terms put violators on notice that they must remedy 

the conditions giving rise to the violations at issue. Furthermore, they demonstrate that the 

enforcement authority intends to facilitate the violator’s compliance. Failure to include these 

types of provisions renders a settlement incapable of commanding compliance if the violator is 

not informed as to what it must do to achieve compliance.  

A. The settlement between Bowman and the Department does not 

describe or mandate behavior modifications necessary for Bowman to 

come into compliance with the Clean Water Act, and therefore is not 

capable of ensuring his compliance. 

 Because the focus of the diligent prosecution analysis is on “whether the actions are 

calculated to eliminate the causes of the violations,” Milwaukee, 382 F.3d at 761, courts should 

assess whether settlement terms describe or mandate the violator to change its behavior in such a 

way that would bring the violator into compliance with the Act.  

Prosecutions upheld as diligent are explicit in the behavioral modifications required of 

violators. The Tenth Circuit found a settlement requiring a mining operation violating the CWA 

to, inter alia, “restore and stabilize [discharge] sites, and to prevent further erosion and water 

contamination and/or mitigate damages caused by [its] construction activities,” and to apply 

“best management practices to minimize or eliminate stormwater discharges,” constituted a 

diligent prosecution. Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1194-95 (10th Cir. 2007). The Fourth 

Circuit approved as diligent a settlement requiring the violator whose wastewater had been 

discharged too hot to “achieve compliance with the thermal effluent limitations set forth in [its] 

modified permit.” Piney Run, 523 F.3d at 455, 458 (internal citations omitted).  

Non-diligent prosecution lack such terms. Other courts found no diligent prosecution 

where a settlement only required a reduction of CWA violations rather than complete 
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compliance, Milwaukee, 382 F.3d at 764, and where a state enforcement agency filed a “vague” 

complaint, which sought “entirely prospective and nonspecific” relief. Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal., 

Inc., v. Maple Coal Co., 808 F.Supp.2d 868, 886 (S.D. W. Va. 2011). The upshot of these cases 

is that for the courts to consider a prosecution diligent, it must clearly identify and command 

behavioral modifications that will bring a violator into compliance with the Act. This is 

particularly true of settlement agreements, in which enforcement authorities are afforded 

discretion in crafting resolutions. See Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 61. To prevent abuse of that 

discretion by crafting settlements too lenient to prevent future CWA violations, the Court should 

require a clear indication of the changes that a violator must make to come into compliance.   

The settlement at issue does not include such clear provisions requiring Bowman to 

modify the behavior that has caused and will continue to cause violations of the CWA. The 

conduct at issue is Bowman’s excavation of dredged material from his wetlands without a 

section 404 permit and his continuous violation of the CWA. See supra Part II-III. Thus, the 

settlement must address that conduct on some level in order for this Court to find a diligent 

prosecution.  

However, the settlement between Bowman and the Department has only three terms: 1) 

to convey a conservation easement over the land he had not cleared, plus a buffer zone (together, 

the “conservation area”); 2) to keep the conservation area in its natural state by not developing it 

and by remediating the buffer zone; and 3) to not clear remaining wetlands in the area, 

effectively, the conservation area. R. at 4. In addition to being entirely duplicative (Bowman 

must conserve, not develop, and not clear the conservation area), this settlement does not 

actually identify a change in behavior designed to eliminate Bowman’s dredging violation. 

Instead, it works a trade by which Bowman is relieved of liability for his past violations, but not 
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instructed to change past behaviors as to prevent future violations, in return for a conservation 

easement on a fraction of his land that he found too difficult to excavate in the first place. Id. 

Such a tradeoff resembles a mutual back-scratching more than it does a diligent prosecution of 

CWA violations. 

Even more troubling is that the settlement does not address the glaringly obvious 

violations that are nearly certain to occur in the future. Most importantly, Bowman will continue 

to dredge his wetland when he prepares it for planting and in the event of inundation, and he will 

continue to discharge pollutants from the swale without a permit. See supra Part. III. For this 

settlement to be diligent, it should demand that Bowman obtain a NPDES permit if he wishes to 

discharge from his ditch and it should restrict permissible activities on his converted wetlands as 

to ensure that the pollution prevention goals of the Act are actually met.  

Because the settlement does not address the behaviors that resulted in Bowman’s CWA 

violations, it is not capable of remediating those behaviors. Accordingly, this Court cannot find 

that this settlement is capable of requiring Bowman to comply with the Act, and is, therefore, not 

a diligent prosecution.  

B. The settlement does not include mechanisms to facilitate Bowman’s 

compliance, and therefore is not calculated in good faith to ensure 

compliance.  

 Courts also look to whether a settlement includes terms that can coerce or assist a violator 

to come into compliance with the Act in order to determine whether the settlement is calculated 

in good faith to bring a violator into compliance. See, e.g., Milwaukee, 382 F.3d at 760-61 

(deadlines that might demonstrate good faith effort to ensure compliance can be so lengthy as to 

render a prosecution non-diligent). These mechanisms can encompass the inclusion of a 

compliance schedule, which spells out the necessary steps and timeline in which a violator must 

bring his operation into compliance, id., as well as the assessment of penalties, the sting of which 
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would coerce a former violator to refrain from additional violations, see Atl. States Legal Found., 

Inc. v. Universal Tool & Stamping Co., 735 F.Supp. 1404, 1416-17 (N.D. Ind. 1990) (lenient 

penalty assessment a factor in finding no diligent prosecution). 

Inclusion of such terms can elucidate whether a prosecution is calculated in good faith to 

bring a violator into compliance, even though the terms alone are not dispositive as to whether an 

agency prosecuted diligently. See N. & S. Rivers Ass’n v. Scituate, 949 F.2d 552, 555-56 (1st Cir. 

1991) (assessment of penalties not required to bar a citizen suit under CWA section 

309(g)(6)(A)(ii)); but see WashPIRG, 11 F.3d at 886-87 (administrative penalties required to 

render state statute comparable). Indeed, almost all settlements that pose diligent prosecution 

issues include terms of this sort. See, e.g., Karr, 475 F.3d at 1194-95 (settlement assessed 

$325,000.00 penalty and required implementation of best management practices); Piney Run, 

523 F.3d at 458 (settlement imposed conditional penalties for future violations and required 

mitigation measures with obligations and deadlines); Knee Deep Cattle Co., Inc. v. Bindana 

Investment Co., 94 F.3d 514, 515 (9th Cir. 1996) (settlement included compliance proposal and 

stipulated penalties but was not imposed pursuant to comparable state statute). That the Bowman 

settlement includes neither penalties nor a compliance schedule, see R. at 4, suggests that the 

Department’s goal was neither to coerce nor encourage him into compliance.   

1. The settlement has minimal deterrent effect because the Department did 

not assess administrative penalties against Bowman. 

“[C]ourts have considered whether penalties have been assessed and whether the amount 

of the penalty has taken into account the economic benefit the violator derived from 

noncompliance” in determining whether an enforcement agency sought to deter violations. 

Milwaukee, 382 F.3d at 762 (internal citations omitted). If penalties amount to less than the 

economic benefit from violating, then penalties have no deterrent effect. Id. Here, the 
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Department assessed no penalties against Bowman. R. at 4. Moreover, he will likely derive a 

significant economic benefit from both the result of his violation (the arable wetland) and from 

the costs saved by flouting the expensive and time-consuming permitting process. Although 

Bowman might argue that the easement constitutes a penalty, the value thereof has very little 

deterrent effect because the conservation area is comprised primarily of a very small fraction of 

his land that was too difficult to render useful by excavation. Id. Accordingly, the failure to 

invoke any of the $125,000.00 penalties the Department could have assessed against Bowman 

was also a failure to deter future violations or coerce his future compliance.  

2. The settlement is not designed to encourage Bowman into compliance as 

indicated by the Department’s failure to include a compliance schedule 

therein. 

Similarly, the failure to include a compliance schedule is also indicative of the 

Department’s lack of a good faith effort to bring Bowman into compliance through the 

settlement. “Enforcement actions typically result, by consent or otherwise, in a remedial order 

setting out a detailed schedule of compliance designed to cure the identified violation of the 

Act.” Piney Run, 523 F.3d at 459 (citing Weinberger v. Romelo-Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 318 

(1982)).  

It is true that an agency is due deference in its decision to detail deadlines and obligations 

in a settlement. Id. However, the failure to include a compliance schedule here suggests a lack of 

cooperative effort to resolve Bowman’s CWA violations and the resulting pollution. In the 

instant case, the Department may have omitted a schedule detailing Bowman’s deadlines for 

compliance because the settlement does not actually call for Bowman to change his behavior to 

come into compliance. See supra Part IV.B.1. However, it still indicates that the Department did 

not have the elimination of CWA violations at the forefront of its goals when it prosecuted 

Bowman. This, in turn, indicates that the settlement was not calculated, in good faith, to bring 
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Bowman into compliance. Accordingly, this Court should not find that the terms of the 

settlement constitute a diligent prosecution. 

For the foregoing reasons, we urge the Court to overturn the district court and find that 

the settlement at issue does not represent a diligent prosecution by the Department against 

Bowman for the CWA violations giving rise to the Federation’s suit, and that as such, the 

Federation’s suit is not barred. 

CONCLUSION 

 The Federation respectfully requests the Court to overturn the district court’s summary 

judgment order and grant its request for injunctive relief. The Federation sufficiently pleaded 

standing to bring a citizen suit that was not barred by the Department’s non-diligent prosecution 

of Bowman. Furthermore, Bowman clearly committed a violation of the CWA by illegally 

bulldozing soil and vegetation, and altering the topography of the wetlands. Finally, it is near 

certain that regular inundation of his impaired wetlands will necessitate future land clearing 

violations.  

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

___________________ 

 

Counsel for New Union Wildlife Federation 

  


